
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 

 
Tuesday, 10th December, 2019 

 
10.00 am 

 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County Hall, 

Maidstone 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 





 
 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 

Tuesday, 10th December, 2019, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell 
Council Chamber, Sessions House, County 
Hall, Maidstone 

  

 Telephone 03000 416172 
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting  

 
Membership  
 
Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Ida Linfield (Vice-Chairman), Mr R Barton, Ms J Bayford, 
Ms D Bride, Mr J Burden, Mr T Byrne, Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunstan, 
Mrs L Game, Ms C Goodwin, Mr S Gray, Ms S Hamilton, Mrs S Hammond, Mr A Heather, 
Mr G Lymer, Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer, Mrs T C Scott, Ms C Smith, Ms S Vaux and 
four vacancies. 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 

 
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports. 
 

1  Membership - to note that Michael Northey and Reece Graves have left the 
Panel, and that Tracy Scott and Rob Barton have joined.  

 Tracy will fill one of the foster carer vacancies and Rob has taken Reece’s place 
as an Apprentice Participation Worker, Virtual School Kent.  
 

2 Apologies and substitutes  

3 Chairman's Announcements  

4 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 17 September 2019 (Pages 5 - 16) 

5 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC)  

6 Challenge Card update (Pages 17 - 22) 

7 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member (Pages 23 - 24) 



8 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 25 - 36) 

9 The Corporate Parenting Annual Report 2019 (Pages 37 - 64) 

10 UASC and impact of leaving the European Union (Pages 65 - 68) 

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda, there were no exempt items. During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

Benjamin Watts 
General Counsel 
03000 416814 
 
 
Monday, 2 December 2019 
 
Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report. 
 
 



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Tuesday, 17 September 2019. 
 
PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Ida Linfield (Vice-Chairman), 
Ms D Bride, Mr T Byrne, Mr T Doran, Mrs L Game, Ms S Hamilton, Mrs S Hammond, 
Mr A Heather, Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer, Mrs T Scott (Substitute for Ms J 
Bayford), Ms C Smith and Ms S Vaux 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Mr R W Gough 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Dunkley CBE (Corporate Director for Children Young 
People and Education), Mr R Barton (Apprentice Participation Worker, Virtual School 
Kent), Ms J Carpenter (Participation and Engagement Manager, Virtual School Kent) 
and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
176. Apologies and substitutes  
(Item 1) 
 
Apologies for absence had been received from Julianne Bayford, Gary Cooke, 
Stephen Gray, Stuart Griffiths, Geoff Lymer and Michael Northey.  
 
Tracy Scott from the Kent Foster Care Association was present as a substitute for 
Julianne Bayford.  
 
177. Membership  
 
1. The Democratic Services Officer announced that, since publishing the agenda, 

she had received news from Stuart Griffiths that he was unable to continue as a 

Member of the Panel as new work commitments meant he was no longer able to 

attend meetings. 

2. The Chairman placed on record her thanks to Stuart for his participation over 

the years and for his valuable insight as an experienced foster carer and adopter, in 

particular his experience of caring for UASC.  

178. Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 25 July 2019  
(Item 2) 
 
It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 25 July 2019 are correctly 
recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.  There were no matters arising.  
 
179. Chairman's Announcements  
(Item 3) 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 

The Chairman said how very proud she had been to attend the recent ceremony at 
Canterbury cricket ground to present young people in care with awards and 
certificates of achievement.  It had been very pleasing to see young people’s joy at 
having their achievements celebrated. She thanked the participation team who had 
organised and attended the event for the care they had put into the arrangements.  
 
180. MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE PRESS AND PUBLIC FOR EXEMPT ITEMS  
 
It was RESOLVED that, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
  
The Chairman explained that the meeting was being closed so a film could be shown 
which featured children and young people in care attending participation events. 
      

EXEMPT ITEM 
 
181. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC)  
(Item 4) 
 
1. Tom Byrne and Rob Barton, Apprentice Participation Workers, Virtual School 

Kent (VSK), gave a verbal update on the work of the OCYPC, the Super Council and 

Young Adult Council and forthcoming participation events. The text of this update will 

be appended to these minutes.  

 

2. The first part of the update included a film of children and young people 

enjoying various participation events over the long summer holiday. These covered a 

range of activities, including gliding, horse-riding and a sports day. Young people 

attending had also taken part in a discussion about the qualities needed by a good 

foster carer.   

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS (meeting re-opens to public) 
 
182. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC)  
 
1. The update continued in open session with a second film, made using a new 

‘Videoscribe’ animation facility which presented participants as animated figures, with 

the voices of real young people as a soundtrack.  It was noted that this would make it 

easier for young people to share their views at first hand with a wider audience as 

they could not be identified and the challenges of protecting their privacy were thus 

avoided. This new medium and its possible uses were welcomed.  

  

2. It was RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks.  

183. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member  
(Item 5) 
 
1. The Cabinet Member for CYPE, Roger Gough, gave a verbal update on the 

following issues:  

Page 6



 

 

Awards ceremony - he agreed with the view of the Chairman that the awards 

ceremony held on the previous weekend had been a wonderful occasion. The 

presence of the Panel Chairman as Chairman of the County Council had given the 

occasion a higher profile than it had had before. Such an event aimed to celebrate all 

young people in care, not just those who had achieved good academic results.  Many 

were involved in community activities or excelled at sports or the performing arts.  He 

referred to the number of County Council Members who had attended and suggested 

that more publicity of the event among Members might encourage more to attend.  

Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC) – the number of UASC had 

been increasing for a while. 18 months ago, the number of UASC under 18 in Kent 

had been 230, which was Kent’s ‘fair share’, using the formula which accompanied 

the National Transfer Scheme. There were now 353 under 18 and 900 over 18. So 

far in 2019, just over 200 new UASC had arrived in Kent.  

 

2. He explained that the general position on funding for care leavers, including 

UASC, had not changed since reporting to the Panel in July. A Government review 

had increased the rates paid in support of UASC under 18 but there were still 

outstanding funding issues relating to care leavers over 18. Although the shortfall for 

this sector was between £500,000 and £600,000, this was the lowest it had been in 

ten years.   

 

3. It was RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks.  

184. Report on Looked After Children and Custody  
(Item 6) 
 
1. Dan Bride, Assistant Director, Adolescent and Open Access, West, introduced 

the report and responded to comments and questions from the Panel, including the 

following: 

 

a) a Panel member who had visited Cookham Wood Young Offenders 

Institute praised the education facilities there but expressed concern about 

the number of children in care in the youth justice system and that 60% of 

those had special educational needs and disability (SEND). Ms Bride 

advised that the number of children in care in custody or awaiting 

sentencing was a challenge not just in Kent but nationally, and work was 

going on to seek to reduce this number. The Home Office, the Ministry of 

Justice and the Department for Education were collaborating on a national 

protocol to reduce the unnecessary criminalisation of children in care and 

care leavers. Early Help and Preventative Services aimed to achieve very 

early intervention and an holistic approach, with schools being able to refer 

young people and families to self-refer. There was also a move to use 

more out-of-court disposals, for example, restorative justice and community 

solutions, to avoid young people entering the youth justice system; 

 

Page 7



 

b) asked what role Virtual School Kent (VSK) could play in this work, Tony 

Doran, Head Teacher, VSK, explained that VSK aimed to improve the 

school attendance of all young people, not just those with SEND, to keep 

them away from risk-taking behaviour, but pointed out that VSK was only 

part of a larger picture. Ms Bride added that ‘open access’ offers were 

being reviewed to make these more robust and identify earlier those who 

might be at risk of becoming involved in criminal behaviour;  

 

c) asked what would happen to residents of the Medway Secure Training 

Centre (STC) during its conversion to a school, and how many of those 

residents were girls, Ms Bride explained that there were no girls currently 

resident at Medway. Current residents would move to the nearest suitable 

centre, as close to their foster families as possible. A recent inspection had 

advised Medway STC that they needed to ensure that a social worker was 

in post.  Asked where any girls would go, Ms Bride undertook to find out 

about this and the social worker appointment and advise the questioner 

outside the meeting;     

 

d) asked about health services for young people in custody, Ms Bride advised 

that some young people coming into care at the time of they entered the 

youth justice system did not have a GP and hence had health needs which 

were not being met. There was an established relationship between secure 

institutions and the North East London NHS Foundation Trust to deliver 

healthcare services;  

 

e) asked if the County Council would have any input into the establishment of 

the first secure school in the UK, Ms Bride advised that, although she 

would be meeting shortly with the Oasis Charitable Trust, which would run 

the school, to talk about providing suitable training for staff, the County 

Council had no jurisdiction over the running of the school;  

 

f) asked how young people at risk of exploitation could be protected from 

county lines and gang activity, Ms Bride advised that a model of risk 

management was being established which would involve joint working and 

shared intelligence between professionals, as well as mentoring for young 

people, which had been shown to be effective when used elsewhere; and 

 

g) asked how the achievements of young people in the youth justice system 

would be celebrated, compared to other children in care, Ms Bride advised 

that the youth justice service aimed to establish a scheme by which young 

people’s achievements could be celebrated, replicating the arrangements 

made by VSK for other children in care. She referred to the excellent work 

started by Josh, the Youth Justice Apprentice, who had since moved on to 

a new role. The aim now was to establish a Youth Justice Apprentice in 

each of the four regional teams, rather than one to cover the whole county, 

and that their work would focus on black, Asian, and minority ethnic (BME), 

Page 8



 

children in care and care leavers, as these groups were over-represented 

in the youth justice system.  

2.  It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in 
response to comments and questions be noted, with thanks, and that a 
further update report be presented to the Panel in six months’ time.  

 
185. Performance Scorecard for Children in Care  
(Item 7) 
 
Chris Nunn, Senior Management Information Officer, was in attendance for this item. 
  
1. Mr Nunn introduced the report and explained that pattern changes had arisen 

from the re-inclusion of UASC in the figures and the completion of fewer initial health 

assessments. Nancy Sayer, Designated Consultant Nurse for Looked After Children, 

Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups, added that there had been a large increase in 

the first half of 2019 in the number of both children in care and those placed in Kent 

by other local authorities, especially in East Kent, and this had stretched resources to 

breaking point. Health assessment interviews for UASC were necessarily more 

complicated than for other children in care as UASC required interpreters, came with 

no health records and hence could have all manner of hitherto unidentified and 

unmet health needs. Asked about the long-term impact of this and how long it might 

take to clear the backlog, Ms Sayer said this was not easy to predict.  She explained, 

however, that additional capacity would be made available later in the autumn and 

more nursing resources would be requested in instalments thereafter.  This would 

hopefully include specialist paediatricians with experience of working with children in 

care and UASC. Sarah Vaux, Chief Nurse, Medway Clinical Commissioning Group, 

agreed that resourcing initial health assessments for children and young people 

coming into care was an ongoing concern.  

 

2. It was RESOLVED that the performance data set out in the report and the 

information given in response to comments and questions be noted, with 

thanks.  

186. Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 2018/2019 and Kent Adoption 
Service Business Plan 2019  
(Item 8) 
 
Sarah Skinner, Head of Adoption Service, was in attendance for this item.  
 
1. Ms Hammond and Mrs Skinner gave an update on the regional adoption 

agency (RAA) and explained the work which was continuing to establish it. The 

Government had committed to the development of an RAA involving Kent, Medway 

and Bexley Councils, and those three councils had formally agreed to work together, 

which meant their respective staffs would have no change of employer or terms and 

conditions of employment. Mrs Skinner would be the Interim Head of the RAA, as 

well as retaining some of her responsibilities at Kent County Council, and her County 

Council post would be backfilled.  Executive and operational boards for the RAA had 

Page 9



 

been set up and stakeholder events organised for social workers, the NHS, young 

people and others.  There would be an Adoption Advisory Board event in November 

2019.  

 

2. Mrs Skinner then responded to comments and questions from the Panel, 

including the following:-  

 

a) the Chairman commented that the Adoption Annual Report was not just a 

regular report of activity but a celebration of the work of Kent’s Adoption 

service; 

 

b) although there was a target timespan during which a child should be 

matched with suitable adopters, it was surely more important that the 

match ultimately made was the right one.  Mrs Skinner advised that the 

target timespan was set by the Government and was required to be met; 

and 

 

c) Mrs Skinner explained that the aim of the adoption service was to meet the 

needs of all children awaiting adoption, in the best way possible for each 

child.  Sometimes the needs of children were so great that they may need 

to be the only child in a family at a point in time. Mrs Skinner emphasised 

that any decision to separate siblings would be taken only after much 

thought and only by weighing up how the needs of each child could best be 

met in a secure permanent placement, which would avoid unnecessary 

future moves. Although some siblings may not be placed together, every 

effort would be made to keep them as geographically close as possible, 

and to encourage contact between their adoptive families, so they could 

still see their siblings while being parented by different adults. 

 

3. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the Kent Adoption Annual 

Report 2018/19and Business Plan 2019 and given in response to comments 

and questions, be noted, the excellent work of the adoption team be welcomed 

and celebrated and all adoption staff be sent the Panel’s thanks for their work.  

187. Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Action Plan/Children in 
Care with Education, Care and Health Plans (ECHPs) (6 monthly review)  
(Item 9) 
 
Lesley Burnand, Special Educational Needs County Manager, was in attendance for 
this item.  
 

1. Ms Burnand introduced the report and responded to comments and questions 

from the Panel, including the following:- 

 

a) the facilities for delivering an alternative curriculum to young people 

excluded from school were impressive and were praised. Ms Burnand set 

out some of the innovative and creative projects which were in place, 

Page 10



 

including one which encouraged young people to learn to maintain a 

bicycle and plan and undertake cycle rides. This would develop the 

practical skills of mechanics, route planning and orienteering as well as 

encouraging them to get out into the fresh air and take regular exercise. 

Such schemes would be run alongside other educational provision, and in 

a young person’s education record this would be listed as ‘other education’. 

Mr Doran added that the success of such schemes was evidenced by the 

reduced number of young people with an Education, Care and Health Plan 

who were not in education, employment or training (NEET); and 

  

b) asked if there were any schools specialised in working with ‘school 

refusers’, Ms Burnand explained that some independent providers offered 

outreach packages and mentoring schemes.  

 

2. The Corporate Director, Matt Dunkley, suggested that one role of a corporate 

parent could be that of a ‘pushy parent’, to champion and pursue what any other 

parent might pursue for their child.  He added that the recent integration of the Child 

Disability, Early Help and Children’s Social Care teams provided one co-ordinated, 

integrated service for children with special needs. As a service provider, the County 

Council needed to be responsible for the whole service provision and, as such, would 

seek to achieve a first class and outstanding service.  

 

3. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in 

response to comments and questions be noted, with thanks, and a further 

update report be made to the Panel in six months’ time. 

188. Looked After Children Annual Report for the Kent Clinical Commissioning 
Groups, April 2018 - March 2019  
(Item 10) 
 
1. Ms N Sayer introduced the report and explained that she had a statutory duty 

to report annually on the health services provided to looked after children in Kent and 

priorities for future work.  She responded to comments and questions from the Panel, 

including the following:- 

 

a) concern was expressed about there being only one designated nurse for 

looked after children in Kent, against the recommended total of five. Ms 

Sayer advised that, since writing the report, two deputy designated nurses 

had been appointed and interviews for a third appointment were due to 

take place shortly;  

 

b) Ms Sayer advised that an interim designated doctor for looked after 

children, Dr Leather, had been appointed substantively in July 2019, 

working two days a week.  She hoped that Dr Leather could attend a future 

Panel meeting to talk about her work. It was hoped also to be able to 

Page 11



 

appoint three deputy designated doctors, at least one of whom could be a 

GP; 

 

c) asked about the funding available to recruit more designated doctors and 

nurses, and if this funding could be protected until suitable appointments 

could be made, Ms Sayer confirmed that the funding was reserved and 

would be protected while suitable staff were being sought.  Recruitment of 

such staff could take a long time as the subject area was very specialised 

and required a very specific skills set;  

 

d) asked if other local authorities placing their children in care in Kent made a 

contribution to the costs of their health care, Ms Sayer advised that there 

was a national tariff for health assessments  which other CCGs in the 

placing local authorities were required to pay, but no formal arrangement 

for them to pay for any other, secondary health services the child may 

need during their placement in Kent.  Some authorities, in particular 

London authorities, had limited placements near to their boundaries and so 

had to place them elsewhere, and many London children came to Kent; 

and 

 

e) asked about funding for training about gang activity and knife crime, Ms 

Sayer advised that one-off funding had been made available by NHS 

England, but no further training was being planned. 

 

2. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in 

response to comments and questions be noted, with thanks, and the 

opportunity to meet a designated doctor at a future Panel meeting be 

welcomed.      

 
 
 
 

Page 12



 
Tuesday 17th September 2019 

Corporate Parenting Panel Update- 

On behalf of the Children in Care Councils and Young Adult Council 

 

Summer Activities 

Over the Summer the Participation Team have been very busy doing activities and 

events for Children in Care & Care Leavers. We have also supported our colleagues in 

Fostering & Children and Families with their Summer Events too. We have made a 

short film to show you some of what we have been up to.  Show film 

Participation Team Update 

We are delighted that alongside Alex, Amy and Shyanne who joined at the start of the 

summer as new apprentices, we have 2 new Participation Support Officers and 1 new 

Participation Support Assistant join the team.  We can take on more work and support a 

much wider cohort of young people, not just children in care and care leavers. First on 

the agenda is promoting and staff training to increase knowledge and usage of Mind of 

my Own, taking over the Adoption Services young people’s Participation agenda, and 

supporting Safeguarding and Quality Assurance in ensuring young peoples voice are 

involved in everything. 

Super Council & OCYPC Joint Meeting  

On the Friday 30th August 2019 we held a joint meeting with our two children in care 

council groups. Kristy Tidey the Advocacy & Safeguarding Manager from the Young 

Lives Foundation attended and met both council groups to speak about their rights and 

the advocacy service.  

Following on from work Young People had done in a previous focus group at the start of 

the summer to support Commissioning in their work around ensuring our IFAs are as 

good as they can be, the Children in Care Council Members completed a survey and 

some activities on what a good Foster Carer should be.  

 

Some of the things they said their foster carer should be were: 

Page 13



 

 
 

YAC  

On Thursday 5th September the Young Adult Council met in Whitstable, it was attended 

by Matt Dunkley, our Corporate Director and Kobe Emelonye from the 18+ Care 

Leavers Service who is the Accommodation Liaison Officer.  

Members of the group had the opportunity to ask Matt questions directly around issues 

they feel important to them and other Children in Care and Care Leavers, some of 

these were:  

What is your main priority as Corporate Director for Children and Young People 

in Kent? 

Matt said: Tthat all Children & Young People should have a great childhood so they 

feel happy, secure and loved .I want people to look at the whole child, not just things 

like GCSE results but to help them to achieve their full potential - socially as well as 

academically so they can build connections and feel supported in life. 

Is there any advice you would give us as a Corporate Parent? 

Matt said: Yes, the same advice as I would give my own children - focus on your own 
happiness, don’t sweat about the small stuff, bad times will pass. Treat people the way 
you want to be treated yourself, and that you can determine your own destiny. 

Kobe spoke to the group about the Young Inspectors Scheme. By placing Young 
People at the heart of the services that affect them, the Young Inspectors Scheme’s 
main focus initially will be accommodation and address the issues in shared 
accommodation. 

 

 

 

Page 14



 
 

Out of County and Harder to Reach Young People  

As part of VSKs remit to engage with Kent children and young people that have been 

placed out of the county, the Participation Team have started by sending out an 

information pack to young people. This pack consists of an introduction to the 

Participation Team, information on Kent Cares Town, Mind of my Own and our current 

Children in Care Councils. Included in the pack is a short questionnaire for the young 

person and the foster carer, this is to establish whether young people placed out of 

county are aware of the services The Participation Team.  

The aim is to establish whether the young people would like to engage with the 

Participation Team and if so, to look at how this would be done most effectively so the 

young people living out of the county still have the opportunity to have their voices 

heard.  

Depending on the response the team receives, the plan is to arrange to meet with small 

groups of young people and recreating a different style of children in care council that is 

accessible to young people who cannot attend the Kent meetings. 

Core Skills Training 

We have received some really positive feedback from staff around the films we put 

together to support the Core Skills training that has been delivered by the Practice 

Development Officers to all front line staff over the summer. Staff have told us how 

helpful it has been for them to hear what we, as young people from Kent actually think 

about  things and that it has made them think carefully about some areas of their 

practice.  

Other ways to hear young people’s voices 

Something the Participation team has been exploring is finding different ways for young 

people to voice their views, opinions and experiences. We recently came across a 

software tool called Videoscribe. 

Videoscribe is an online software that can create whiteboard animations automatically. 

It is really easy to use, and the team are currently trialling it with a view to using it with 

young people so they can express their views about how they feel about school before 

their PEP meeting.It also has lots of other possible uses.  

Some of the team have been getting to grips with it before we go out and trial it with 

some young people as a possible new way for them to express themselves and get 

their opinions across in a different way. 

We would like to show the short film we made as an example. 

 

 Page 15



 
Upcoming Events 

 Post16 Awards Ceremony – 16th October 

 Care Leavers Week Fundraiser – Virtual Tour De Kent – 23rd October  

 Corporate Parent Team Challenge Day -  25th October (PM) 

 Corporate Parenting Christmas Concert - 17th December (Evening)  

 

Page 16



 

From: Sue Chandler, Cabinet Member for Integrated Children’s Services 
 

 Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education 
 

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 10th December 2019 
 

Subject: Challenge card update 
 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 

Summary: This report provides members with an overview of the progress made 
on the current challenge cards that our young people have made to 
KCC, in our role as Corporate Parents. The report includes a new 
challenge to the panel.  
 

Recommendation: The members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
challenge card progress to date and accept the new Challenge 
presented by our children and young people.  

 

1. New Challenge Card Issued: Mind your Language 
 

1.1 The Young Adult Council and the OCYPC would jointly like to challenge 

its Corporate Parents to ensure that professionals ‘Mind their Language’ 

when they are working with children and young people. 

 

1.2 The Young Adult Council and the OCYPC want to change the language of care 

used in Kent especially in front of children and young people. They are aware 

that language is powerful; words chosen wisely can break down barriers and 

encourage positive relationships between young people and their workers.  

However, the language of care can sometimes seem cold, impersonal and adult 

centred with words, phrases and acronyms used that are confusing, seem 

negative or simply mean nothing to our young people.   

1.3 Both young people’s councils  want the professionals working with them in Kent 

to think about how they communicate with young people. They don’t want the 

words that professionals use when speaking to each other to necessarily be the 

same words they choose to use when speaking to young people, for example – 

don’t ask them how their ‘placement’ is going. 

1.4 To demonstrate this, YAC and the OCYPC chose 6 words used by workers in 

conversations with them that they believe some young people perceive 

negatively.  They want workers to understand the impact such words can have 

on them and consider what alternative language they could use: 

       

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



 

Contact 

“Contact is an awkward word.” 

“It is cold and detached.” 

“Younger children don’t use this 

word…it has multiple meanings.” 

 

Use: Family Time, Seeing Family, 

Family Visit, Seeing mum / dad / 

sisters / brothers (not siblings!) 

LAC 

“LAC makes it seems like you are 

lacking knowledge or need to be 

looked after.” 

“It makes it sound like you’re stupid 

or missing something.” 

 

Use: Child in Care, Young Person 

Placement 

“It makes me feel like an object 

being put somewhere.” 

“It doesn’t make me feel like I’m 

going to be part of the family…it’s 

cold and not loving.” 

Use: Where I live, Home, My House 

Care Leaver / Leaving Care 

“It makes it sound like no one cares 

about you anymore.” 

“(it seems like they’re saying) our 

work here is done.”  

Use: Care Experienced Adult, Next 

Steps, Continuing Care / Support, 

Moving On 

Respite 

“It sounds like carers don’t like you; 

you’ve worn them out and they 

can’t cope.” 

“It’s something wanted or needed 

but doesn’t sound positive.” 

“(it’s like) the foster carers need a 

break from you.”  

Use: Holiday, Break, Short Break, 

Mini Get Away 

Peers 

“I’ve never heard that word.” 

“It sounds too professional.” 

 

Use: Friends, Mates, Friendship 

Group 

 

1.5 Young people tell us they  want their day to day conversations with their 

workers to reflect how they really speak and use the words and phrases that 

they would choose.  Often the language associated with the care system can 

stigmatise those within it and further differentiate them from other young 

people.   

Page 18



 

1.6 YAC and the OCYPC, therefore, is asking workers to be mindful; talk to their 

young people about the words they want to use and make sure their language 

is child friendly and treats them as individuals with feelings not as case files or 

numbers. 

 

2 Previous Challenge: Council Tax Exemption 

 In March 2019, The Young Adult Council raised the challenge: 

 That all Kent Care Leavers living in Kent should be exempt from paying 
Council Tax (until the age of 25). 

2.1 Background 

 The Children and Social Work Act (2017) implemented on 1st April 2018, places 
corporate parenting responsibilities on district councils for the first time, requiring 
them to have regard to children in care and care leavers when carrying out their 
functions. Councils have the power to introduce exemptions for council tax for certain 
groups under section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

 Corporate Parenting is a statutory function of the Council with the underlying 
principle that every local authority will seek the same outcomes for children and 
young people in care that every good parent would want for their own children; for 
example, successful transition to young adulthood and financial independence. 

 Care leavers can find themselves grappling with the challenges of living 
independently; managing a household, continuing education or seeking employment, 
as well as managing their personal finances and paying household bills for the first 
time, often on a very low income and without the support of family or previous 
financial education to help them navigate this. This can make care leavers a 
particularly vulnerable group when it comes to the collection of council tax when 
moving into independent accommodation. 

 Further evidence shows spiralling debt and the threat to their tenancies are amongst 
the biggest issues in young people’s lives, often leading to abandonment and 
tenancy loss, making it extremely difficult for young people to access accommodation 
at a later stage. This can have a great impact on not only the young person’s health 
and wellbeing but the wider community i.e. homelessness, health, crime and the 
prison service. 

2.2 An exemption in council tax would further enhance Kent County Council’s offer 
to its care leavers, alongside the KCC Rent Guarantor Scheme. 

2.3 KCC accepted this challenge and agreed to investigate further the proposal that 
care leavers who are the responsibility of KCC, living in Kent and are aged 18 
to 25 years could be exempted from paying council tax. 

3. Challenge Card Progress: 

3.1 The current research and financial data to support the Challenge card has been 
completed. Lead officers from Kent County Council presented to the Senior 
Finance Officers for the Kent Housing Districts to engage in initial discussions 

Page 19



 

about the proposal for a council tax exemption for Care Leavers as part of the 
responsibilities as a Corporate Parent. Due to the numbers of eligible young 
people and the number of District councils that would have to sign up to an 
exemption process, it was decided that the simplest method to achieve the 
outcome of the challenge card was to look into whether Kent County Council 
could implement a payment scheme, to fund council tax bills for our young 
people whom are care leavers.   

3.2 On the advice of the Corporate Director for Finance and in discussion with the 
Corporate Director for Paid Services and the Director of Integrated Children’s 
Services East, it has been decided in principle that KCC will pay the Council 
Tax Bills for our Kent Care Leavers eligible to pay council tax, from the age of 
18-21 years old from 1st April 2020.  This decision will follow KCCs ‘decision 
making process’ as described in the Constitution before it can be implemented.   

 Data and Financial Implications 

3.3 The work will now be undertaken to identify our Care Leavers that will be 
eligible as of 1st April 2020. Young people will be expected to claim all benefits 
and reductions in relation to housing and council tax benefits and following this, 
present their council tax bill to their Personal Advisor. Kent County Council 
Corporate Parenting services will be responsible for setting up the 
administration processes to make the payments and ensuring guidance for staff 
and our young people is produced in an easy to follow guide and flowchart.   

3.4 There will be no entitlement for historic payments to be made for council tax 
arrears.   

3.5 This decision will be reviewed yearly as part of the Care Leavers Local Offer.  

 

Recommendation:  
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the challenge card progress 
to date and the decision regarding council tax payments for Care Leavers.  

 

 
4. Background Documents: None 
 
5. Contact details 

Lead Officer 
Caroline Smith  
Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting 
03000 415 091 
Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk  
 
Lead Officer 
Joanne Carpenter  
Participation and Engagement Manager 
Virtual School Kent  
03000 411876 
Joanne.carpenter@kent.gov.uk 
 

Lead Director 
Sarah Hammond 
Director of Integrated Children’s Services East 
(Social Work Lead) 
03000 411 488 
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk  

Page 20

mailto:Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Joanne.carpenter@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
By:  Sue Chandler, Cabinet Member for Integrated Children’s Services 
 
 
To:  Corporate Parenting Panel – 10 December 2019 
 
 
Subject:  Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member  
 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 
 

 

 

 

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following:- 
 

 
Kent Association of Headteachers Conference 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



By:    Sue Chandler, Cabinet Member for Integrated Children's 
 Services 

 
    Matt Dunkley CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young  
                                      People and Education 
 

To:  Corporate Parenting Panel –10
th

 December 2019 
 

Subject: PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR CHILDREN IN CARE 

Classification:  Unrestricted 
 

Electoral Divisions: All 
 

 

Summary: 

 

 

 

 

 

Recommendation: 

 
The Performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest Performance Scorecard 
for October 2019 is attached to this report.   
 

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 

and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard. 
 

 

1. Introduction  
 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed to identify and monitor progress  
 on a range of areas where improvements in performance and practice will lead 

to better outcomes for children and young people. 
 
1.2 This report includes the latest Children in Care Scorecard which is for October 

2019.   
 
 

2. Context 
 

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with an overview of the key performance measures for 
Children in Care.  

 
2.2 The report is split into sections and includes a range of performance indicators 

and activity information.  
 
2.4 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 

Children’s Social Care Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared with Corporate Parenting Panel so that 
performance issues can be further understood across organisations resulting in 
improved outcomes for children and young people. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



3.     Summary of Performance – October 2019 
  

3.1 The report contains key statistics and performance results against the targets 
for 26 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), which are assessed using a 
Red/Amber/Green (RAG) Status.   

 

3.2 Of the 26 KPIs included in the report, the RAG status for October 2019 is as 
follows: 

 16 are rated Green – target achieved or exceeded 

 9 are rated Amber – below target but above floor standard 

 1 is rated Red – below floor standard 
 

3.3 The CIC Scorecard submitted to the previous Corporate Parenting Panel on 
17

th
 September 2019 was for July 2019.  During the period between the two 

reports the RAG status of four KPIs has changed.   There were improvements 
in performance for three of these KPIs:  

  

 3.3.1    Percentage of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the 

last 6 months.  Performance against this measure has improved from 
92.8% in July 2019 to 95.8% in October 2019.  This resulted in a 
change to the RAG banding from Amber to Green as the Target of 
95.0% has been achieved. 

 

 3.3.2   The percentage of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW.  

Performance improved from 79.6% to 89.5%, exceeding the Target of 
85.0% and moving the RAG banding from Amber to Green.  
Performance against this measure is now at the highest level it has 
been since the performance indicator was put in place in February 
2015. 

 

 3.3.3.  Average Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams 

Only). In the period between the two reports average caseloads 
decreased from 15.9 cases to 14.5, achieving the target of an average 
of 15 cases and moving the RAG banding from Amber to Green.   

 
  The remaining measure with a change of RAG banding was as a result of a  
         decrease in performance. 
 

 3.3.4 Percentage of Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those 

we are in touch with).  Performance against this measure dropped 
slightly between July and October 2019, from 90.5% to 89.6%.  As this 
fell just below the 90.0% Target it resulted in a change to the RAG 
banding changing from Green to Amber. 

 
3.4   There are 10 measures which have not achieved their Target, 9 with an  
 Amber RAG rating, and 1 rated as Red.  One of these is covered in point 3.3.4  
 above, the remainder are as follows:  
 

3.4.1 Percentage of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 

working days.  Performance for this measure has continued to fall 

Page 26



and between July and October 2019 reduced from 61.9% to 57.0%, 
remaining significantly below the 85.0% Target and remaining within 
the Red RAG banding.  The change in performance this year is partly 
due to a change in the definition for the measure.  In 2018/19 when the 
National Transfer Scheme was in operation newly arrived UASC were 
excluded from this measure as the responsibility for the initial health 
assessment would have been with the local authority taking 
responsibility for the young person. However, as that scheme was not 
in place at the start of this reporting year the definition for this measure 
was amended to include new UASC.  The increasing number of UASC 
arrivals has had an impact on performance, but the performance for 
Citizen children and young people has also fallen – from 84.8% in April 
2019 to 69.1% in October 2019.  Health have advised that an increase 
in demand, particularly in East Kent, has put pressure on providers and 
the CCGs are seeking additional capacity to meet the increased 
demand.  

 

3.4.2 Percentage of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same 

worker for the last 12 months.  Performance decreased between 
July and October 2019, from 53.8% to 53.1% remaining below the 
Target of 60.0%.  Performance has averaged at 54.0% over the last 12 
months. 

 

3.4.3  Percentage of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Relatives and 

Friends (excluding UASC). Between July and October 2019 
performance decreased from 81.4% to 79.8% which remains within in 
the Amber banding and below the Target of 85.0%.  The average 
performance over the last 12 months is 81.9%. 

 

3.4.4 Percentage of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (excluding 

UASC), performance decreased by 0.5% between July and October 
2019, from 75.3% to 74.8%, remaining below the 80.0% Target.  This 
is a local measure which measures distance regardless of LA 
Boundary.  The National Measure is 20 miles from home, outside the 
LA Boundary and for 2018 was Kent was ranked 2

nd
 in terms of 

performance (7.0% compared to an average for England of 15.0%). 
 

3.4.5 Percentage of children in care who ceased to be looked after who 

were adopted (excluding UASC) or made subject to a Special 

Guardianship Order (SGO).  Kent’s performance for October 2019 
was 14.2% which was a slight reduction from the July 2019 
performance of 14.4% but it remains close to the Target of 15.0%.  

 

3.4.6  Percentage of children who ceased to be looked after who 

became subject to a Special Guardianship Order (SGO), excluding 

UASC.  Performance against this measure decreased from 10.7% to 
9.3% between July and October 2019 which is below the Target of 
11.0%.   

 

Page 27



3.4.7 Percentage of Returner Interviews Completed for Children in 

Care. Performance decreased by 1.9%, between July and October 
2019, from 89.3% to 87.4%.  Whilst this is below the Target of 90.0% 
the completion rate remains high although there is a lack of 
comparative data available against which to benchmark this 
performance. 

 

3.4.8 Percentage of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working 

days for Children in Care.  There was a slight (0.2%) decrease in 
performance, from 76.5% to 76.3% between July and October 2019, 
remaining below the 80.0% Target. Whilst timely completion remains 
an important factor, the focus remains on achieving the completion of 
Returner Interviews for children in care.   

 

3.4.9 Percentage of Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those 

we are in touch with).  This is covered in 3.3.4 above. 
 

3.4.10    Percentage of Care Leavers in employment, education or training 

(of those we are in touch with).  Performance improved slightly from 
64.3% to 64.5% which remains close to the 65.0% Target.  

 
  
For the remaining measures the Targets set have been achieved.    
 
  

 4. Recommendations 

 

4.1  Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 

NOTE and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard. 

 

 

5. Background documents 
 

 Children in Care Scorecard – October 2019 
 
 

6. Contact details 
 

 Lead Officer 
 Maureen Robinson 
 Management Information Service Manager 
 03000 417164 
 Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk 

 

 Lead Director 
 Sarah Hammond 
 Director of Integrated Children’s Services East (Social Work Lead) 
 03000 411488 
 sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 28

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Publication Date: 18 November 2019

CYPE Management Information & Intelligence

Kent Children's Social Work Services

Corporate Parenting 
Scorecard

Produced by

Oct 2019

Page 29



Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 

reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 

or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and/or analysis as a one off 

please log a request through the CYPE Management Information & Intelligence Performance Management site:

Some of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 

the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 

caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating
RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators.  Also, if the denominator is lower than 5 no 

RAG rating has been applied

Floor Standard achieved but Target has not been met: Floor Standards represent the minimum 

level of acceptable performance. Floor Standards are set in Directorate Business Plans and if not 

achieved must result in management action

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set: Target 

has not been achieved

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set: Target 

has been achieved

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 20/11/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - October 2019 Page 2 of 8

Page 30

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


% of CIC Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 98.6% G 1,698 1,722 98% 98.3% 99.3%

% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H R12M 97.7% G 4,064 4,160 95% 97.7% 96.3%

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 months H SS 53.1% A 529 996 60% 53.4% 52.3%

CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 9.8% G 177 1,813 10% 9.6% 10.5% 10% *

CIC Placement stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 74.2% G 393 530 70% 74.3% 70.1% 70% *

% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (exc UASC) H SS 79.8% A 866 1,085 85% 80.4% 83.4%

% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC) H SS 74.8% A 993 1,328 80% 74.9% 77.1%

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 (exc UASC) SS 41.6 1,414 340,140 41.2 39.8 57.8 **

Number of Kent CIC SS 1,813 1,767 1,582

Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1,447 1,416 1,347

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the IRO for the last 12 months H SS 82.4% 821 996 82.9% 74.7%

% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 6.6% 39 587 7.2% 14.4%

% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 1.3% 23 1,813 1.4% 2.4%

% in P&V placements L SS 6.3% 115 1,813 6.4% 6.9%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (exc Medway) SS 7.4% 134 1,813 7.4% 7.9%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (inc Medway) L SS 13.0% 236 1,813 13.2% 14.3%

No. of current CIC with a permanent exclusion this academic year L AC YTD 0 0 0

No. on a part-time timetable L SS 21 19 6

% of CIC for at least 12mths and aged 16-18 at month end with Education Status of NEET L SS 12.6% 51 406 14.8% 19.1%

% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement or Support/EHCP L SS 31.5% 358 1,138 30.8% - -

% of EHCPs Issued within 20 weeks for EHCP referrals made while child was CIC H AC YTD

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after H R12M 93.9% G 736 784 90% 93.1% 87.1%

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H R12M 57.0% R 423 742 85% 57.7% 77.5%

% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 96.5% G 1,284 1,330 90% 96.1% 95.7% 89.4%**

% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 94.3% G 1,254 1,330 90% 93.2% 94.8% 83.4%**

% of CIC who turned 18 during the month with a health history completed H SS 100.0% G 16 16 100% 100.0% 100.0%

SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April (for Current LAC) L YTD 14.8 6,081 412 14.6 14.0

Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L R12M 349.0 G 25,476 73 426.0 355.7 348.6 593****

Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L R12M 106.3 G 7,550 71 121.0 112.1 119.5 190 ***

% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC) or made subject to an SGO H R12M 14.2% A 73 515 15.0% 14.5% 16.9% 14%****

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H R12M 9.3% A 48 515 11.0% 10.6% 6.0%

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H R12M 7.3% 48 658 8.4% 4.2%

% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H R12M 98.7% 75 76 98.7% 84.3%

% of sibling groups that were placed together (where the plan was to place them together) H R12M 96.0% 24 25 93.1% 82.5%

% of CIC with a current Agency Decision, not Placed for Adoption L SS 2.5% 46 1,813 2.7% 3.7%

% of Returner Interviews completed for CIC H R12M 87.4% A 901 1,031 90% 88.2% 90.6%

% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC H R12M 76.3% A 787 1,031 80% 76.3% 74.3%

Number CIC with Missing Episode started in the month L M 82 72 89

Number of CIC missing episodes started in the month lasting longer than 48 hours M 28 12 18

Complaints made by CIC (or on their behalf) during the month L M 6 3 2

% of Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 89.6% A 1,320 1,474 90% 89.6% 94.0% 92.2%**

% of Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 64.5% A 950 1,474 65% 64.3% 66.0% 58.6%**

% of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the last 6 months H R12M 95.8% G 1,562 1,630 95% 94.3% 95.0%

% of Care Leavers we are in contact with (inc UASC) H R12M 90.0% G 1,465 1,627 85% 90.3% 89.2% 90.6%**

% of Current Care Leavers with a Staying Put Arrangement H SS 5.2% 89 1,708 5.2% 5.6%

% of CIC Care Plans rated good or outstanding H R12M 77.7% G 3221 4146 75.0% 78.3% 79.4%

% of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW (exc Fostering & Adoption) H SS 89.5% G 103.8 116.0 85% 88.5% 88.4%

Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 14.5 G 1,683 116.4 15.0 14.4 14.6

Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 67.3 G 1,813 26.9 70.0 65.6 60.4

* indicates national figures from 2016/17 (LAIT)

** indicates national figures from 2016/17 (DfE Statutory returns)

*** ALB Return 2016/17

**** Statistical First Release 2016/17

Data not available due to new system implementation

Denom

Target 

for 

19-20 N
at

io
n

al
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

(E
n

gl
an

d
 R

at
e

)1 month 

Indicator

P
o

la
ri

ty Data 

Period

Latest 

Result and 

RAG Status

Num

MISSING CHILDREN

COMPLAINTS

STAFFING

CARE LEAVERS

Oct 2019

CHILDREN

EDUCATION

HEALTH & WELLBEING

ADOPTION

1 year ago

Result

D
o

T

Result

D
o

T

QUALITY ASSURANCE

Scorecard

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 20/11/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - October 2019 Page 3 of 8

Page 31



Current Age Female Male Grand Total Age at Period of Care Start Date Female Male Grand Total

0 33 34 67 0 45 63 108

1 18 24 42 1 27 27 54

2 13 16 29 2 26 32 58

3 9 13 22 3 27 33 60

4 12 10 22 4 37 59 96

5 5 10 15 5 42 49 91

6 13 14 27 6 62 75 137

7 23 35 58 7 50 68 118

8 13 23 36 8 47 52 99

9 28 32 60 9 36 64 100

10 35 52 87 10 30 60 90

11 38 54 92 11 38 44 82

12 47 60 107 12 35 48 83

13 51 79 130 13 29 80 109

14 52 81 133 14 34 58 92

15 69 120 189 15 39 92 131

16 90 203 293 16 38 177 215

17 112 292 404 17 19 71 90

Grand Total 661 1152 1813 Grand Total 661 1152 1813

Nationality Female Male Grand Total Disability* Female Male Grand Total

Afghanistani 1 86 87 Autism or Asperger's syndrome 25 93 118

Albanian 17 17 Behaviour 10 43 53

American 1 1 Communication 17 39 56

Bangladeshi 1 1 Consciousness 6 10 16

British 595 720 1315 Hand Function 1 1 2

Chad 1 1 2 Hearing 3 7 10

Chinese 1 1 2 Incontinence 3 11 14

Czech 7 2 9 Learning 29 54 83

Egyptian 4 4 Mobility 13 15 28

Eritrean 10 54 64 Personal Care 5 7 12

Ethiopian 2 2 Vision 4 9 13

German 1 1 Other DDA 9 17 26

Ghana 1 1 None 580 960 1540

Guinean 6 6

Indian 1 1 2 UASC? Female Male Grand Total

Iranian 79 79 Yes 25 374 399

Iraqi 1 56 57 No 636 778 1414

Irish 3 3 Grand Total 661 1152 1813

Ivorian 2 2

Kenyan 1 1 Ethnicity Female Male Grand Total

Latvian 5 1 6 A1 - White British 544 654 1198

Lithuanian 2 9 11 A2 - White Irish 1 1

Mali 2 2 A3 - Any other White background 25 46 71

Nepalese 1 3 4 A4 - Traveller of Irish Heritage 1 1

Nigerian 1 5 6 A5 - Gypsy/Roma 7 11 18

Not Recorded 8 9 17 B1 - White and Black Caribbean 12 23 35

Pakistani 2 2 B2 - White and Black African 7 5 12

Polish 1 3 4 B3 - White and Asian 7 7 14

Portugese 2 1 3 B4 - Any other mixed background 19 10 29

Romanian 1 1 C1 - Indian 1 4 5

Russian 2 2 C2 - Pakistani 1 1

Senegalese 1 1 C3 - Bangladeshi 1 1

Sierra Leone 1 1 C4 - Any other Asian background 8 62 70

Slovak 3 10 13 D1 - Caribbean 1 1 2

Slovenian 2 3 5 D2 - African 15 81 96

Somalian 1 1 D3 - Any other Black background 2 1 3

Sri Lankan 1 1 2 E1 - Chinese 1 1 2

Sudanese 25 25 E2 - Any other ethnic group 10 244 254

Syrian 5 5 Grand Total 661 1152 1813

Thai 1 1 2

Turkish 4 4

Vietnamese 12 27 39

Zimbabwean 1 1

Grand Total 661 1152 1813

Demographic Breakdown for Kent LAC as at 31/10/2019

*  If a child has more than 1 disability recorded they will be counted more than once in the table

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 20/11/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - October 2019 Page 4 of 8

Page 32



Inc UASC (1813)

236 placed OLA (inc Medway) 13.0%

134 placed OLA (exc Medway) 7.4%

Exc UASC (1414)

178 placed OLA (inc Medway) 12.6%

99 placed OLA (exc Medway) 7.0%

Inc UASC (1813)

376 Aged 0-4 20.7% 273 Disability recorded

635 Aged 5-10 35.0% 1540 No disability recorded

497 Aged 11-15 27.4% 15% % with disability recorded

305 Aged 16-17 16.8%

Exc UASC (1414)

1,813 - 273 Disability recorded

1,141 No disability recorded

19% % with disability recorded

176 Aged 0-4 12.2%

337 Aged 5-10 23.3%

661 Aged 11-15 45.7%

273 Aged 16-17 18.9%

1,447 -

Inc UASC (1708)

1088   Living in Kent 63.7%

149     Living in Medway 8.7%

367    Living in OLA (exc Medway) 21.5%

104     Not Known 6.1%

Exc UASC (816)

619  Living in Kent 75.9%

69    Living in Medway 8.5%

33    Living in OLA (exc Medway) 4.0%

95    Not Known 11.6%

Total OLA LAC

Location of Care Leavers

** An exercise was undertaken to re-open closed cases with care leaver status in 2016 reporting year, therefore, these figures do show an increase

Key Activity

Location of Current LAC

Ages that Current LAC Cohort became LAC Number of LAC with Disability

Total LAC

Age Breakdown of Current OLA LAC Cohort

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Oct
14

Mar
15

Aug
15

Jan
16

Jun
16

Nov
16

Apr
17

Sep
17

Feb
18

Jul
18

Dec
18

May
19

Oct
19

LAC over the last 5 years

Citizen

UASC

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1,000

Apr
15

Aug
15

Dec
15

Apr
16

Aug
16

Dec
16

Apr
17

Aug
17

Dec
17

Apr
18

Aug
18

Dec
18

Apr
19

Aug
19

Care Leavers**
Citizen

UASC

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

Oct
14

Mar
15

Aug
15

Jan
16

Jun
16

Nov
16

Apr
17

Sep
17

Feb
18

Jul
18

Dec
18

May
19

Oct
19

OLA LAC PLaced in Kent

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 20/11/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - October 2019 Page 5 of 8

Page 33



Key Stage 2

Key Stage 4

Over 20% of Kent CIC achieved a 4 or above in English GCSE and 16% of Kent CIC achieved a 4 or above in Maths GCSE

Notable individual successes were achieved despite considerable barriers – for example:

Source: VSK Annual Report. Latest Validated Outcomes Summer 2017 (Published SFR March 2018)

Kent CIC beat the National CLA Progress figure in every indicator except for maths, which it is broadly in line with. However, a higher percentage of Kent CiC achieved 

the higher maths boundary (working at Greater Depth within the expected Standard – GDS)

Educational Attainment

35.6% of Kent CIC achieved the Expected level in Combined at the end of KS2. This figure indicates the gap between CIC and All Learners has reduced. Kent CIC 

outperformed South East average for CIC in every single attainment indicator and the National average for CiC in all indicators except mathematics at end of KS2.

Outstanding Progress in reducing the gap between Kent CIC and National All Learners in the significant Combined Measure to just 29% which is a 24 percent 

improvement for Kent CIC on last year

Reduction of the gap between Kent CIC and All Learners Nationally in Writing – this is now only at 28.3%. Historically this has been a weaker subject area for CIC and 

indicates targeted work has reaped results

Kent CIC achieved 3.6% higher than the CLA National Progress scores in the Combined measure

Kent CIC’s Average P8 (Progress 8) Measure was -1.09 and the National CLA (Child Looked After) figure was -1.18. This negative score indicates the difficulties that our 

children nationally face in making progress from the end KS2 to end KS4. However, Kent CIC made more progress than CIC nationally. This progress figure was most 

positively affected by our children’s achievement in ‘Other’ subjects eg the Arts

- One UASYP achieved 5 A*-C including English and Maths despite being in the country for only approximately 2 years

- One special school student (SEMH with ASD and Learning difficulties)

achieved 4 GCSE passes- One student in Sevenoaks achieved a 4 or above in English and Maths - as well as 5 A*-C including English & Maths. She has gone on to study at College

- One student at the WK PRU achieved 2 GCSEs and a BTEC PASS despite being placed at home and needing intensive support

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 20/11/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - October 2019 Page 6 of 8

Page 34



Multiple Attendance Factors October 2019
Data source: VSK. Figures shown are number of children

Primary

School

Secondary

School
Total

Primary

School

Secondary

School
Total

Primary

School

Secondary

School
Total

Primary

School

Secondary

School
Total

No of CiC With A Fixed Term Exclusion This Academic Year 10 104 114 10 109 119 1 24 25 1 24 25
No of CiC with Persistent Absence 30 199 229 28 204 232 20 100 120 20 101 121
No of CiC Currently on a Reduced Timetable 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 16 19 3 18 21
No of CiC Currently Not in Education 0 88 88 0 80 80 0 98 98 0 94 94
Fixed Term Exclusion with PA 2 54 56 1 56 57 0 7 7 0 7 7
PA Not in Education 0 6 6 0 2 2 0 7 7 0 8 8
Not in Education and on a Reduced Timetable 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 1
Exclusion and on Reduced Timetable 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 1 2 3
RTT Not in Exclusion 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Exclusion PA and Not in 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0
Exclusion, RTT, PA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 2 2
RTT, PA , Not in Education 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
All Above 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Key: 
CSE  Child Sexual Exploitation PA  Persisent Absence
Exclusions figures include children with temporary suspensions

Oct-19

RTT  Reduced Timetable

Education Factors for Kent LAC as at 31/10/2019 and comparison with previous month

Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 20/11/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - October 2019 Page 7 of 8

P
age 35



Definition

Nov 18 Dec 18 Jan 19 Feb 19 Mar 19 Apr 19 May 19 Jun 19 Jul 19 Aug 19 Sep 19 Oct 19 Ave

+6.0% +9.9% +10.7% +10.4% +10.1% +11.1% +12.6% +13.5% +12.9% +12.6% +12.2% +12.1% +11.2%

Health are recruiting additional staff to assist with the number of Health Assessments that need to be carried out.

Commentary

Last 12 months

% Difference between exc. 

and inc. UASC

Number of children whose Initial Health Assessment took place more than 20 working days after their period of care started 

by age and legal status

% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days

Theme Health & Wellbeing

PID Reference

Current RAG Red - 57.0%

Of the Children in Care who became looked after and therefore whose Initial Health Assessment was 

due in the period, the percentage of those whose Initial Health Assessment took place within 20 

working days of the date they became looked after. UASC LAC Starters betwen 01/07/2016 and 

01/04/2018 are excluded

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

RAG - Red Zone RAG - Amber Zone RAG - Green Zone Kent exc. UASC Kent inc. UASC

6 3

62

159

45
20

22

6

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

In Care Accommodated

137

49

116 121

48

20

72

1363

3

12

29

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

0-4Yrs 5-9Yrs 10-15Yrs 16+Yrs

No Date Recorded Outside Timescale Within Timescale

Produced by: CYPE Management Information Intelligence

Publication Date: 20/11/2019 Corporate Parenting Scorecard - October 2019 Page 8 of 8

Page 36



From: Sue Chandler, Cabinet Member for Integrated Children’s Services 
 

 Matt Dunkley CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education 
 
Ann Allen, MBE, Chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel and 
Chairman of Kent County Council.     
 

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 10th December 2019 
 

Subject: The Corporate Parenting Annual Report 2019 
 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 

 

Summary: This is the second Annual Report for Corporate Parenting and is written 
at the request of Ann Allen, Chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel. 
It covers the work of the Corporate Parenting Services and Panel from 
September 2018-September 2019.  
 
 

Recommendation: The members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
annual report and our responsibilities as corporate parents.  

 

1. Introduction  
 

1.1 The Corporate Parenting Annual Report has been written for elected members and is 
presented at the request of the chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel, to detail the 
work of the services for children and young people in the care of Kent County Council.  
 

1.2 The report details the corporate parenting responsibilities for KCC staff, elected members 
and partner agencies and provides a summary of the work of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel for the period September 2018-September 2019.  

 
1.3 The report provides an overview of the role of our key corporate parenting services:  

 

 Kent Fostering  

 Kent Adoption 

 Virtual School Kent including the Participation and Engagement Team  

 Care Leavers 18+ Service 

 Total Placement Service 
 

Recommendations 
 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the Corporate Parenting 
Annual Report 2019.  
 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 9



2. Background documents 
 
None 
 
3. Contact details 
 
Lead Officer 
Caroline Smith  
Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting 
03000 415 091 
Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk  

Lead Director 
Sarah Hammond 
Director of Integrated Children’s Services East 
(Social Work Lead) 
03000 411 488 
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk  

 

Page 38

mailto:Caroline.Smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


 

CORPORATE PARENTING 
ANNUAL REPORT 2019 

Making Kent a county that works for all children  

 

SEPTEMBER 2018 – SEPTEMBER 2019      

 
KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 

Corporate Parenting 
Integrated Children’s Services 

Page 39



Forward 

 
Ann Allen, MBE Chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel and the Chairman 
of Kent County Council 2019 
 

Welcome to our corporate parenting annual report, which details the work 
of the Corporate Parenting Panel and our services to children in care.  
   
The contribution from our children in care council and our apprentices is 
invaluable and indeed I could not fulfil my role as a corporate parent or 
the chairman of the panel without their guidance and support. 
 
As parents we all want the best for our children. We are proud of their 
achievements and create opportunities to celebrate with them as 
families. 
 
As corporate parents it is our responsibility and duty to treat our children 

in care and care leavers as we would our own children.  
 
I am proud of all our young people and their achievements and it is a privilege to work with 
them. As elected members in our role as a corporate parent we must take every opportunity 
to champion for them.  
 
In that work, the Corporate Parenting Panel is vital, bringing together a wide range of 

partners but above all giving voice to the children and young people who this is all about.  

Caroline Smith, Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting 
 
On 1st April 2019, it was with great pleasure that I took on the 

permanent role as Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting. The 

focus in the last year has been to widen the responsibility of being a 

Corporate Parent to all those who work for Kent County Council 

and staff in our partner agencies. 

Our annual report outlines our key services that support our 

children in care and care leavers and a summary of the work 

presented to the Corporate Parenting Panel between September 

2018 - September 2019. 

The support and encouragement from the members of the Corporate Parenting Panel is 

invaluable to our children and young people. I am proud to be a Corporate Parent to over 

1,600 children and over 1,600 young people whom are care experienced and be able to 

share with you the work of my services.  

Our annual report is a celebration of the success and achievements of both our staff, children 

and young people, with the highlight this year being our first ever Corporate Parenting Panel 

Takeover Day. 

Page 40



Contents 

 

Forward .................................................................................................................................... 2 

An introduction to Corporate Parenting .................................................................................... 4 

Kent Fostering Service ............................................................................................................. 6 

Kent Adoption Service ........................................................................................................... 11 

18+ Care Leavers Service ..................................................................................................... 15 

Total Placement Service ........................................................................................................ 19 

Virtual School Kent including the Participation and Engagement Team ................................ 21 

How can our elected members get involved? ........................................................................ 25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



An introduction to Corporate Parenting  
 

The government have introduced clear corporate parenting principles that require all 

departments within a local authority including staff, elected members and partner agencies to 

recognise their role as a corporate parent and encourage them to look at the support and 

services they provide. 

Kent County Council work to be the best corporate parents to our children and young people 

by following these key principles: 

 To act in the best interest and promote the physical, mental health and wellbeing of those 

children and young people; 

 To encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes and 

feelings; 

 To consider the views, wishes and feelings of those children and young people; 

 To help those children and young people to gain access to, and make the best use of, the 

services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners; 

 To promote high aspirations and seek to secure the best outcomes for those children and 

young people; 

 To ensure those children and young people are safe and have stability in their home lives, 

relationships, education and workplace; 

 To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent living. 

Corporate Parenting Panel and services 

Our Corporate Parenting services are overseen by the Assistant Director for Corporate 

Parenting and comprise of four key services: Kent Fostering, Kent Adoption, the Total 

Placement Service and the Care Leavers 18+ Service. In April 2019, Integrated Children’s 

Services were restructured as part of the Change for Kent Children programme. The Virtual 

School Kent now report directly to Sarah Hammond, Director of Integrated Children’s 

Services (East), whilst maintaining close working relationships with the Corporate Parenting 

services.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



Corporate Parenting services work closely with our children’s 

early help and social work teams, health, education, youth 

offending and our key partners including the Young Lives 

Foundation (YLF) and Kent Foster Carers Association (KFCA). 

The services report into the Corporate Parenting Panel who 

meet 6 times per year and, alongside elected members, the 

panel has a wide range of independent members including 

foster carers, the designated nurse for children in care, YLF, 

KFCA and our participation apprentices. Following a previous 

challenge that children and young people wanted to attend the 

panel, without having to miss out on their education, for the 

last year 50% of our panel dates were planned around school 

holidays to facilitate children’s attendance. 

Each Corporate Parenting Panel includes a Cabinet Member update and performance 

scorecard that enables the panel to monitor our key targets and statutory requirements. This 

year has seen significant improvement across children in care services achieving a majority 

of GREEN ratings across our key performance indicators.  

The voice of our children and young people is represented at all panels by our Virtual School 

Kent apprentices and participation workers. Members of the panel are invited to attend 

celebration events which this year included the Virtual School Kent Awards, activity days, 

fund raising events, Adoption and Fostering Conferences and the Kent Fostering Awards 

ceremony.  

Corporate Parenting Panel Takeover Day 

On 29th May 2019, we were proud to host our first Corporate Parenting Panel Takeover Day. 

The takeover day consisted of our children and young people chairing the panel, creating the 

agenda and leading discussions. For each child and young person attending, they were 

linked with a member of the panel, shadowing their work for the day and presenting reports, 

whilst also enjoying some activities and lunch together. The day was extremely beneficial and 

following the positive feedback; our aim will be to make this a yearly event.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



Kent Fostering Service 
 

In April 2019 a new Kent Fostering Service structure took effect, bringing the area Fostering 

Support Teams and Centralised Fostering Teams under one area of accountability within the 

Corporate Parenting management structure as part of the Change for Kent Children 

Programme. The aim of the restructure is to improve the support offered to children, young 

people, foster carers and their families, improving placement stability and our recruitment and 

retention of carers.   

 

As of 31st August 2019, Kent County Council had 670 approved foster carer households, 

including Connected Person foster carers (An arrangement where children are living with a 

family relative or friend under an Interim or full Care Order). Our foster carers were caring for 

911 Kent children and young people in care, 51 of these children through a Connected 

Person arrangement.  

Transformation Funding 

Kent Fostering have been awarded £500k transformation funding for service development, 

focusing on improving our recruitment and retention of foster carers. The service is using part 

of this funding for targeted recruitment for: 

Parent and Child foster carers: Carers who can support parents and their child within a 

home environment, to assess their parenting capacity and with the aim to support a return to 

living in the community.  

Hub Family foster carers: A foster carer who supports 3-4 children or young people who are 

in care, providing a package of support to the main foster carer and directly to the child, 

through day care and overnight stays.  

The transformation funding is also being used to identify and pay for foster carers to 

undertake sessional work to support other foster carers in crisis and aid placement stability 

for these children and young people. In addition, the transformation funding is helping our 

fostering service to update branding on materials, alongside the fostering website, as well as 

increasing the use of social media. 

Page 44



Fostering Support Teams 

We have five fostering support teams, one in each of the areas within the North, South and 

West and two in the East district. Their aim is to provide high-quality support to a range of 

family placements within a child or young person’s local area, to enable them to maintain 

placement stability, attendance at their existing school and continuing contact with their 

family and friends.  

Our fostering support teams also promote permanency for our children and young people 

through early care planning to ensure that they are in a family that can offer them 

permanency through to staying put as they transition into adulthood. Children and young 

people should be supported to achieve a sense of belonging within their foster family and our 

fostering support teams are key to establishing this. 

Placement Stability Team 

Under our service restructure, a new team has been established to provide additional support 

to maintain fostering placements, this includes our Sense of Belonging team which was 

established in September 2017.The team provide support to foster carers and professionals 

at times of crisis and when the foster home is at risk of disruption. There have been 99 

referrals to the Sense of Belonging team between 01 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 and 62% 

of these referrals were due to a potential placement breakdown. Of the completed 75 cases, 

68% remained with their foster carers and only 32% had a planned move to an alternative 

family.  

Disabled Children Fostering Team 

This is an area of excellence, with experienced fostering staff supporting foster carers to 

provide both full-time care and Short Breaks for disabled children and young people. 

One of the main challenges for us is to ensure that our disabled children and young people’s 

thoughts and feelings do not go unnoticed or unheard. Our aim is to ensure we give every 

opportunity to a disabled child or young person to have their thoughts and voice heard, 

providing each social worker with a Widget communication tool to aid communication 

regarding all aspects of the child’s care. The Widget communication tool is a symbol-based 

form of communication commonly used with children, young people and adults with a 

disability. 

The team continues to ensure that disabled children have positive, inclusive activity events, 

taking into account their individual needs.  Throughout the year various events have taken 

place across the county to promote this. 

 

 

Page 45



Training and Learning 

Kent Fostering looks at innovative ways to equip our foster carers to support our children and 

young people. In 2019, we held conferences that delivered joint training to both foster carers 

and social work staff. 

The aim of the conferences was to inform, support and update our foster carers and social 

work staff on themes and new research within the fostering field and to introduce our 

Reflective Fostering programme. 

The “Fostering in Today’s World” Conference took place on 5th and 11th March 2019 and 

outlined the aims and purpose of Reflective Fostering which would provide our foster carers 

with practical ways to help build and maintain supportive relationships with our children and 

young people in their care, following a “Reflective Parenting” model of practice. 

Kent Fostering sought feedback from our Foster Carer Advisory Group and have 

commissioned new training for 2019 on: 

 Allegations and how to safeguard against these 

 Child trafficking, exploitation and modern-day slavery 

 Caring for children with sexualised behaviour 

 Online and Internet Safety 

Moving forward, Kent Fostering Service will work alongside VSK to hold a conference in 

November 2019 delivered by our young people on “Growing up in Care”. In January 2020, 

there will be two further conferences on “Building the Bond of Attachment” which will look at 

caring for children and teenagers who have experienced developmental trauma. 

Foster Carer Recruitment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The recruitment of new foster carers remains a challenge in the current competitive market in 

Kent. The focus on recruitment has led to several developments which include: 

 The implementation of a comprehensive recruitment strategy and marketing plan; 

 Changes in fostering images and branding; 

 Continual development of the Kent Fostering website; 

Page 46



 Increase in social media usage and engagement, including Facebook; 

 Bespoke and targeted advertising and profiling events for our children and young people 

with more complex needs. 

The service has increased the use of social media to ensure Kent Fostering has a greater 

presence within the local community via social media platforms. As a new initiative, a ‘Carer’s 

Career Fair’ took place in October 2018 which included Kent Adoption service, Shared Lives, 

Supported Lodgings, Young Lives Foundation and Medway Fostering. Links with local 

community events have been strengthened to encourage applications from the wider 

community.   

 
In the period September 2018 - August 2019 Kent County Council approved 78 new foster 
carers.    
 

Fostering Review Team 

Our fostering review team have been in place since September 2016. Senior practitioners 

within this team have taken on the chairing of our foster carers’ annual reviews to give 

independency and consistency to the review process, including clear recommendations 

balanced on both achievements and areas of continuous learning and development. 

This has provided the level of independence required for the assessment of foster carers and 

a quality assurance function for the service. The Review Team support the service with 

completing exit and follow up interviews, post approval to ensure the service can learn from 

carers’ feedback in relation to both recruitment and retention.  

There has been an increased focus on outcomes for our children and young people within 

the review period and feedback on foster carers practice, including their development and 

training needs for the future year. Our fostering review team are well-established and 

continue to maintain the completion of a high number of annual reviews across the county, 

completed within the statutory timescale.  

Kent Foster Care Association (KFCA) 

The Kent Foster Care Association is a small registered charity which 

aims to work alongside our service to provide support for our registered 

foster carers. The chairman of the KFCA is a member of the Corporate 

Parenting Panel.  

This charity was set up and is currently ran by our foster carers with a 

desire to help all foster carers in this rewarding, but sometimes challenging role. They 

protect and preserve the wellbeing of our foster carers, their household family, and the 

children and young people in their care, by providing advice, information, services, events, 

facilities and equipment.  

During the last year, they have organised and funded training opportunities, annual 

conferences, and social events for our foster carers. The very successful events have 

Page 47



included trips to Chessington, a training production for Chelsea’s Choice, an Autumn Ball 

and Dragon Boat race.  

The Kent Foster Care Association and committee are extremely supportive of our service 

and contribute to the recruitment of foster carers and staff. They ensure that the voice of our 

foster carers is heard. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Dragon Boat Race Ashford 2019 

 
Corporate Parenting Panel received reports on: 

 Kent Fostering Annual Report and Business Plan 2019 

 Performance scorecard evidencing achievement across our key targets 

 

 

 

Page 48



Kent Adoption Service 

 

The work of Kent County Council’s Adoption Service is governed by the Adoption and 

Children Act 2002, the Adoption Agencies Regulations and Guidance 2013, and the Adoption 

National Minimum Standards (Care Standards Act 2000).  

Kent County Council is committed to ensuring that children and young people can remain in 

the care of their parents and birth families wherever possible. However, where it is not 

possible to achieve stability for the child or young person within the birth family, our Adoption 

Service works to achieve alternative permanent arrangements for the child or young person 

within a family setting and these include adoption. 

What our children and young people can expect from our Adoption Service 

The purpose of our Adoption Service is to provide a comprehensive service to meet the 

needs of our children and young people who have been or may become adopted, birth 

families, and adoptive parents.  

This will include services in relation to those children and young people in our care with an 

adoption plan, and in relation to the non-agency adoption service. To achieve its aims, our 

Adoption Service will ensure that the needs and wishes, welfare and safety of the child are at 

the centre of the adoption process.  

We will welcome those people, who are interested in becoming adoptive parents without 

prejudice, respond to them promptly and provide them with clear information about 

recruitment, assessment and approval.  

Kent Adoption Service achievements 2018-19 

Corporate Parenting Panel received reports on: 

 Proposal to develop a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA)  

 The Adoption Annual Report 2019 

 Performance scorecard evidencing achievement across our key targets  
 

Kent has consistently been amongst the highest local authorities in terms of adoption 

numbers. In 2017/18 Kent was the first of all authorities in England, and our 2018/19 figure 

Page 49



would also put Kent first if comparing to national 2017/18 data. The average time from the 

child being placed to adoption order granted in 2018/19 was 204 days. This was a 5% 

reduction compared to 2017/18, when it was 215 days. 

The performance of our Adoption Service in relation to progressing children’s plans of 

adoption is good and exceeds government targets.  

There are various stages involved in the adoption process for a child and these are outlined 

below: 

Indicator 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Agency decision 

makers best interest 

decisions 

93 111 118 112 77* 

Placement Orders 79 90 92 86 81 

Matches approved 145 84 89 107 80 

Children placed 143 89 84 107 80 

Adoption orders 

granted 
182 108 80 104 96** 

* includes 1 who did not become a looked after child 

   ** includes 1 private adoption 

Number of adoption orders granted 

 

 

Adopter’s Journey Data 

The Adoption Service’s performance in relation to completing assessments of people wishing 

to become adoptive parents is outlined below. There are two stages involved in the adoption 

process: 

 Stage 1 – Which is adopter led; 

 Stage 2 – Which includes the actual assessment. 

Page 50



The progression of adopter assessments is good and exceeds government targets. 

Adopter activity 

Number of 

families in 

2016/17 

Number of 

families in 

2017/18 

Number of 

families in 

2018/19 

Enquiries in year 261 275 281 

Stage One starts in 

year 
90 82 

93 

Stage Two starts in 

year 
74 86 

77 

Stage Two ends in 

year 
50 88 

81 

Adoptive families 

matched in year 
54 77 

73 

Adoptive families with 

placements in year 
53 77 

71 

Adoptive families with 

adoption orders in 

year 

68 70 77 

 

Adopter Sufficiency 

 

The latest data on the Adopter gap indicates that we had more Adopters waiting for a match 

than children with a placement order waiting to be matched. There were 12 children with a 

placement order waiting to be matched and 44 adoptive families approved and waiting for a 

match, an adopter gap of -32. 

 

Our performance has improved despite a negative trend nationally. Adoption leadership 

board data indicates that nationally the adopter gap had increased as there were 1,600 

approved adoptive families waiting to be matched at 31st March 2018 and 2,630 children 

waiting to be placed for adoption with a placement order. 

 

Post Adoption Support Team   

 

The Post Adoption Support Team’s (PAST) vision is to ensure families in Kent have access 

to excellent adoption support and to ensure that the support offered to families at every 

stage of the family life is informed and tailored to their needs. 

Page 51



Threaded throughout the work is a developing therapeutic network which supports the family 

to thrive. The team values a service delivery that can provide layers of support to families 

both pre and post order.  

Of significance, is that the Kent approach was noted as a practice example in the RAA 

Adoption Support Audit undertaken by an Independent Adviser to the DfE. His report 

highlights “In particular, the audit found that multi-disciplinary teams like Kent are best placed 

to draw on both social work and clinical perspectives when assessing and meeting adoption 

support needs effectively and without delay.”  

Our Post Adoption Support Team is a unique partnership between a statutory and a 

voluntary agency, led by a social work Team Manager, who is employed by a local authority 

(KCC) and a Clinical Lead, employed by a voluntary agency (Coram). There are three (full 

time equivalent) Social Workers and four clinical posts within the team. 

The team is funded primarily by the local authority but also utilises government funding via 

the Adoption Support Fund (ASF) to support the costs of the clinical staff and any 

therapeutic intervention offered by the Social Workers. This enables creativity and the ability 

to provide a range of therapeutic provisions, dependent on the support needs identified 

during assessment and therapy. 

Kent was visited by officers from the Department for Education earlier in the year to share 

information about its use of ASF and the multi-disciplinary service model of the Post 

Adoption Support Team. 

The multi-disciplinary model allows for swift problem solving on a case work level as well as 

at aggregate level - which then allows us to think about how to shape the service moving 

forwards. This includes frequent liaison with commissioning and senior managers in KCC 

and Coram (and in turn their combined resources).  

Data is collected and collated to identify needs and inform service design and delivery. If 

gaps in the skill set of clinicians and Social Workers are identified, a strategic approach is 

taken and training is accessed to develop staff and enhance their skill set, or the work force 

expands to include other disciplines. 

The aim is for the team to meet the needs of adopted children and their families internally as 

much as possible, but if this is not possible, external providers of services will be 

commissioned. 

 285 requests for assessment for post adoption support were received from families 

 442 interventions were funded via the adoption support fund 

 90 training days for adopters were held 

 314 cases open to the team 

 

Page 52



 18+ Care Leavers Service 

 

Kent Care Leavers 18+ service is based in West Malling and Dover. We work closely with 

our young people who are from or in care, aged 18-25 years’ old. The service includes 

Personal Advisers who will support care leavers with their journey to living independently 

and have a legal obligation to support all children and young people in our care until their 

25th birthday. 

There are currently 1,637 care leavers being supported by our service; 890 of these are 

unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people, with 747 United Kingdom citizen young 

people. 

What our young people can expect from our service  

Our service can assist Kent County Council’s young people in accessing housing, 

education, training, work experience and health services whilst being there to support them 

to make the most of leaving our care to continue their journey on to independence and 

adulthood. Personal Advisors are there to assist our young people by providing advice, 

encouragement and financial guidance to help them to take every opportunity whilst in our 

care.  

 

 

 

 

Page 53



  Care Leavers 18+ Service achievements during 2018-19 

  Corporate Parenting Panel received reports on: 

 Corporate Parenting pilot scheme: Kent County Council acting as a guarantor for our 

care leavers  

 Report on the types of accommodation for our children in care and care leavers  

 Performance scorecard evidencing achievement across our key targets 
 

Care Leavers 18+ Performance 2018 to 2019 

Action Target Achieving 

Personal adviser to have contact with all their allocated 

young people a minimum of once every 6-weeks 

85% 89.2% 

Care leavers in suitable accommodation 90% 90.5% 

Young people in education, training or employment 65% 65% 

Pathway plans to be updated and reviewed every 6-months 90% 92.8% 

Those receiving their health history records at aged 18 100% 100% 

 

Key new developments and initiatives 

Transition 

 

From 01 April 2018, the service extended its statutory duty to support young people up until 

the age of 25-years old, (formerly this was up to 21-years old), following the implementation 

of the Children and Social Work Act 2017.  

In December 2018, the service published the Local Offer which sets out the entitlements 

and services for our young people. The service is now working on the first review of our 

Local Offer, ready for an updated publication in December 2019.  

Our service is now allocating a personal advisor earlier, at 17-years old and actively support 

them through their transition to adulthood and into our service. This allows joint working with 

our children in care colleagues which includes: a joint visit, joint pathway planning, 

attendance at the 17.5-years old looked after child review and ensuring any financial 

commitments beyond 18-years old are agreed. 

Supported employment   

 

Our service has recently identified 5-young people over the age of 18-years old who may be 

suitable for our upcoming pilot. This would allow our more vulnerable care leavers to have 

Page 54



an opportunity to experience a work environment with the additional support this scheme 

provides. 

Drop-in service  

 

We have structured a drop-in service in the North and West of the county, based in four 

locations. The main purposes of our drop-in service are: 

 To offer networking opportunities for young people; 

 To provide access to advice for education and careers for those who are not in 

education, training or employment; 

 To maintain constructive contact with our isolated and vulnerable care leavers; 

 To promote re-engagement with care services. 

 

Mental health social workers 

We have recruited two Approved Mental Health Practitioners (AMHP) to the Service to 

provide specialist support to our Personal Advisors who work with Care Leavers with Mental 

Health needs. Secondly the role is to support the Care Leavers to access appropriate 

support from Adult Mental Health. 

Young parents 

We have a programme in place to support and interventions across the spectrum of care 

leavers who become parents. These would include young mother, young fathers, parents 

who need additional support due to their own learning needs, parents where there are child 

protection concerns and parents who might have had their child(ren) removed.  

Care leavers vulnerable to becoming homeless 

We have been given funding that has enabled us to provide extra support to our most 

vulnerable care leavers. We have employed 3-specialist personal advisers to provide 

intensive support to care leavers who are judged to be at the highest risk of rough sleeping 

and homelessness. 

Young Inspectors’ Scheme 

We are developing a young inspector’s 

scheme to provide opportunities for 

care leavers aged between 18-25-

years old to inspect our shared 

accommodation. 

It is their role to inspect as well as 

experience services that impact our 

care leavers.  

Page 55



Floating support  

We have recruited four floating support workers to offer additional support to a targeted 

vulnerable group of care leavers within a geographical area by joint working with their 

personal advisers and carrying out focused support within the community. 

Care Leavers in custody 

We have continued to work with our care leavers in custody, through our specialist custody 

officer. 

This role ensures that all our care leavers in custody have appropriate support and plans in 

place for them. 

Care Leavers missing person’s policy 

In 2019, we have published a missing person’s policy for the Care Leavers 18+ Service.  

Kent County Council recognise and acknowledge that our care leavers are young adults 

and therefore are entitled to make informed 

decisions about their lives. This includes the 

freedom to come and go as they wish without 

an obligation on their part to inform their 

Personal Adviser of their whereabouts. 

However, when we are concerned for their 

safety and whereabouts, it is important to share 

information and act in our role as their 

corporate parent to check on their safety, 

sharing any concerns with partner agencies.  

Care Leavers survey 

In October 2018, we undertook our first Care Leavers survey and plan to do this yearly, 

each October in Care Leavers week. This Survey is undertaken independently through our 

business intelligence unit and a report of the outcomes will be presented to the Corporate 

Parenting panel. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



Kent Total Placement Service 

 

The Total Placement Service is part of 

strategic commissioning, working for our 

children and young people in care to find 

them safe and appropriate homes. 

Our team is managed by a Service 

Manager and there are two elements to our 

service: placement finding and business, 

which enables our service to not only 

identify and match placements, but to 

ensure foster carers and providers are 

contracted and paid correctly, in a timely 

manner. 

Our service has 3-Placement Managers, 16-Placement Officers, 1-Business Manager and 4-

Business Officers.  

Our service has grown from being a small team that dealt primarily with external placement 

requests, to its current formation which is a service that is responsible for sourcing the 

majority of placements for our children and young people. There are a few exceptions to this, 

such as residential special school placements and mental health hospital placements. 

We source a range of homes for children and young people, including in-house fostering, 

independent fostering agencies, residential children’s homes, supported accommodation, 

semi-independent accommodation, secure accommodation, shared accommodation and 

manage the referrals for staying put arrangements. 

Our service is compliant with Ofsted and the Quality Care Commission requirements and our 

work is governed by a range of legislations and regulations, including the Children’s Homes 

Regulation 2015, Fostering Services Regulation 2011 and Children’s Act 1989. 

Total Placement Service Priorities  

 Ensuring referrals are of a high-standard and provide a balanced and contextualised view 

of our children and young people for our providers to make informed decisions regarding 

placement options; 

 Providing detail and clarity regarding the matching process for children and young people 

with carers and providers to promote placement stability and ensuring needs are met; 

 Ensuring all business aspects such as the commencement and ending of placements, 

contracts and payments are managed in a timely manner. 

Page 57



It is an exciting phase in development for our service, providing a one-stop shop for social 

workers and personal advisers to access good quality homes for the children and young 

people in our care.  

We will be hosting our first managers’ awayday in September 2019, where we will be 

focusing on the processes used in working to continually ensure these are efficient and 

purposeful. 

Work is also commencing on the redesign of the placement plan referral which will include 

participation from our Virtual School Kent apprentices and our children in care council to 

ensure the referral is child and young person focused. 

In addition, we are currently working with the adult service, Shared Lives scheme, to 

broaden this scheme to provide placements for our young people who are 16-years old and 

over that require additional support. This scheme will be called Stepping Stones and is very 

similar to that of Catch22’s supported accommodation in a family environment. We will be 

piloting the initial 5-placements in November 2019. 

In June 2019, we produced and facilitated the 

assessment and planning for the Placement 

Stability Seminar. This was well received by those 

attending, including foster carers, social workers, 

personal advisors, external providers and health 

and education colleagues.  

On 10 September 2019 we co-produced and 

facilitated the Placement Pressures Seminar, this 

looked at pressures across the Children, Young 

People and Education directorate and 

Commissioning relating to placement availability 

with a significant focus on solutions. 

Future Aims for the Total Placement Service  

 Focus on securing the best possible homes for our children and young people; 

 Continuous building of effective working relationships with colleagues and key 

stakeholders through brief secondments, service day events and by offering induction 

days to the work we do to a range of business professionals, including social workers; 

 Re-design of the placement plan referrals to ensure the voices of our children and young 

people is central and there is clarity regarding the purpose and standard of the referral; 

 Continued inclusion in the South East regional complex looked after children project to 

consider future commissioning options. 

 

Page 58



Virtual School Kent including the Participation and Engagement Team 

The Virtual School Kent acts as Kent County Council’s 

champion to promote the progress and educational 

attainment of its children and care leavers, with its main 

objective being to support the children and young people 

to achieve educational outcomes comparable to their 

peers. Our Virtual School Kent ensures our children and 

young people receive high-quality education, as we 

believe that it is the foundation for improving life-

opportunities and fulfilling career aspirations. 

The Virtual School Kent ensures that the children and young people that it educates have 

their voice heard in all the school does whilst in return, providing their listening skills and 

producing positive service development and responses.  

Our Virtual School Kent has been successful since its development in 2011; this has been 

recognised in their successive Ofsted inspections. It also has a duty, which came into effect 

in September 2018 to promote the education of previously looked-after children, providing 

information, advice and guidance. 

Virtual School Kent Participation Team and Apprentices 

Our Virtual School Kent Participation Team continues to offer young people apprenticeship 

opportunities, should they wish to work within the service. The apprenticeship model has 

been expanded in 2019 to offer opportunities to other young people who come under the 

Corporate Parenting umbrella as well as to care experienced young people. The team now 

also employs young people who are the family members of foster carers and young people 

with adopted siblings. 

All are employed as Apprentice Participation Workers, studying for a Level 2 or 3 qualification 

in Business Administration or Public Service Operational Delivery. One day each week is set 

aside to allow the apprentices to study and complete coursework in a supportive 

environment. This programme allows VSK to ensure that the apprentices gain a good 

qualification and have a better chance at finding employment in the future. This year 

Corporate Parenting has been working with other KCC departments to encourage them to 

offer entry levels jobs for young people who have successfully completed their 

apprenticeship. 

The apprentices’ role is to raise the profile of the importance of hearing the voice of Children 

in Care and Young Care Leavers. They help to ensure that children and young people’s 

views, experiences and opinions are kept at the centre of all working practices. The 

Participation Team’s remit has recently been extended to include the importance of hearing 

the voices of other young people who have involvement with Integrated Children’s Services, 

including those who have been adopted, or are on the edge of care.  The team works hard to 

create young person friendly versions of key documents and ensures that information is 

Page 59



easily accessible and understood by young people – they do this in a variety of ways using 

social media, websites, create films, vlogs and leaflets as well as facilitating  focus groups, 

workshops and other meetings and events. 

One of the key roles of our apprentices involves supporting a broad range of participation 

activities and events. Our VSK apprentices support participation training events for KCC staff 

and partner agencies. During 2019, they have been involved in Co-production Workshops for 

the newly set up Adolescent Service, awards ceremonies for children, young people and 

foster carers and a variety of conferences. 

They have also helped to support the Corporate Parenting Panel ‘Takeover Day’ where more 

than 25 young people were involved in a unique experience to step into the shoes of senior 

council staff and councillors as part of an initiative to put young people at the heart of 

decision making. It was Kent County Council’s first ever Takeover Day that saw children in 

care, care leavers and adopted or young people from fostering families take charge of the 

Corporate Parenting Panel, make big decisions and have their voices heard.  

The voice of our children and young people being heard is important to all 

the Corporate Parenting Services; as a result of this shared passion, our 

Virtual School Kent has the responsibility for developing and supporting 

Kent County Council’s children in care councils. 

These consist of 3 strong, well represented groups of 

children and young people: our young adult council 

(YAC) for ages 16-25, children and young people council (OCYPC) for 

ages 11-16 and the super council for ages 7-11. 

This year has seen the introduction the  OCYPC Extra which are satelite children in care 

council groups for young people who are unable to attend the main meetings in Maidstone, 

this means the Councils are accessible for all. Young people meet to discuss things that 

affect them and others who share similar experiences to them. They also get the chance to 

meet with many senior officers of Kent County Council to discuss their views and opinions 

about the services they receive.  

The children and young people councils provide a forum for all our 

children and young people to allow their voice to be heard and be a 

part of the most essential changes within Kent County Council’s care 

system.  

 

The Challenge Card system has been an innovative concept 

that holds Corporate Parents to account and is a really 

powerful way for young people to challenge their Corporate 

Parents on key issues and improvements they want to make 

to the care system. A successful challenge this year has been 

the rent guarantor scheme that now means care leavers can apply for KCC to be a guarantor 

for them if they wish to rent privately. The most recent challenge from the Young Adult 

Page 60



Council is a request for council tax exemption to be considered for all Kent Care Leavers up 

to the age of 25. 

 

Work has started this year to raise awareness of the importance of KCC officers and elected 

members understanding that we all have a Corporate Parenting role to play to support our 

children in care and care leavers. Using the key message of ‘what that be good enough for 

my own child?’, the apprentices have supported the Assistant Director for Corporate 

Parenting to deliver presentations and training updates to colleagues in other services and 

directorates. 

Our Virtual School Kent Participation Team continue to run a varied programme of activity 

days during the school holidays to promote a safe and fun environment for children and 

young people to meet other children in care and care leavers, establish friendships and hear 

about the children and young people councils and the process of getting their voice and 

experiences ‘heard’. 

What our children and young people can expect from our Virtual School for Kent 

Children and young people can expect our Virtual School for Kent to provide them with: 

 A service that has the highest aspirations for the children and young people that it 

educates and listens to their voice, to enact positive change. 

 A service that prioritises participation and academic progress; 

 A service that provides additional support and aid to the children and young people’s 

progress; 

 A service that works effectively with the network of professionals around the children and 

young people.  

What our Virtual School for Kent achieved during 2018-19 

Corporate Parenting Panel received reports on: 

 Verbal updates from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) on our events 

for children, including activity days, The Takeover Day, and awards ceremonies 

 Verbal Updates and films from the Participation Team and apprentices showcasing the 

teams work and young people’s involvement in work streams 

 Virtual School Kent Overview Report 2016-2017 (validated results) and 2017-2018 (un-

validated results): 

 Challenge cards from children and young people on: 

 KCC acting as Rent Guarantors for care leavers: 

 The timings of service user interview panels and Corporate Parenting Panels to 

ensure they are accessible for a wider cohort of young people to attend and be 

involved: 

Page 61



 KCC exempting it’s Kent Care Leavers (up to the age of 21 from paying council  

Tax.) 

Our Virtual School for Kent have assisted our children and young people with their individual 

educational needs, leading to exceptional exam results, as laid out below: 

Key stage/year Exam results 2018 

KS1 In line or above both Regional and National average in all indicators for 

children in care with the exception of Reading. This positive outcome 

was achieved with a cohort which had significant SEND needed 

including 18.4% above National Average for Child In Care (CIC) with 

Education Health Care Plan’s. (EHCP) 

KS2 Although attainment levels this summer have fallen this is due to the 

level of need of this cohort. It is important to note that the 2018 Year 6 

cohort had a very high level of need in relation to SEN – 41.3% of the 

children had an EHCP (with additional children in process of statutory 

assessment) compared to 23% in 2017. Additionally, 30% of the cohort 

were educated in specialist provisions compared to just 8.2% in 2017. 

Despite this Reading, Writing and the Combined Reading Writing and 

Mathematics were still all broadly in line with the National Average for 

Children in Care. 

The percentage of our young people achieving the higher standards is 

above the National and regional average in all indicators except GPS. 

In addition to this this cohort made more progress than the 2017 cohort 

and more progress in Reading and Writing than Children in care 

nationally and in the South East Region. 

KS4 Attainment is up in all Key Stage 4 indicators on last year. English Grade 

5 and above is up 10.6% on 2017, with Mathematics seeing an 8.4% 

improvement. English and Mathematics combined also saw a 2.2% 

improvement on 2017. 

Most significantly, the progress made by this cohort was outstanding. 

The progress measure indicates an average score of 0, which means 

this cohort equalled the progress expected for all learners (not just CIC). 

Furthermore, Kent CIC made a full point more progress than CIC 

regionally and nationally. 

KS5 We currently have 65 young people who are currently attending Higher 

Education and currently 8 about to enrol. We have also seen our NEET 

(Not in Employment Education or Training) data has reduced significantly 

and is currently at 15.4% this evidences a reduction of 72% over the past 

5 years. 

Page 62



Additional Reports to the Corporate Parenting Panel 

For the period September 2018 - September 2019, the work of the Corporate Parenting 

Panel has also included attendance and reports covering the following:  

 

 Young People Missing; 

 Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Annual Report; 

 Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Young People – Introducing our Peer Champions  

 Review and update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy;  

 Safeguarding and update on young people in custody and youth justice; 

 Video’s from our children and young people’s councils including the experience in 

education from an adopted child, activity days video and new animation package, used to 

promote the young person’s voice; 

 Health overview for Children in Care and Performance data;  

 Life Long Links; 

 Children’s Celebration Events  

 

 

How can our elected members get involved?  

 

All our Corporate Parenting services welcome visits from elected members and ask for their 

ongoing support for our children and young people. Whether this is through sharing in the 

children’s achievements at our celebration events such as the VSK award ceremonies or 

through more formal training events such as our yearly conferences.  

 

The children and young people welcome meeting their corporate parents at activity days, this 

helps them to understand the role of a Corporate Parent and be able to speak openly about 

their experiences.  

 

Members are essential in being champions for our children and young people in care, to 

ensure their voice is heard. We also ask our elected members to promote the recruitment of 

foster carers for the Kent Fostering service and assist our vision to have more Kent families, 

to care for our Kent children and young people.  

 

Thank you to all Kent County Council staff, partner agencies and elected members who have 

contributed over the last year, in supporting Corporate Parenting to make a difference to the 

lives of the children and young people in our care.  

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



 

From: Sue Chandler, Cabinet Member for Integrated Children's Services 
 

 Matt Dunkley, CBE, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education 
 

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 10th December 2019  
 

Subject: UASC and impact of leaving the European Union  
 

Classification: Unrestricted 
 

Summary: This report provides members with an overview of the impact of the 
UK’s withdrawal from the European Union on Kent County Council’s 
corporate parenting responsibilities for newly arrived unaccompanied 
asylum-seeking children (UASC). 
 

Recommendation: The members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
uncertainty that exists regarding the eventual impact of the UK’s 
withdrawal from the European Union on all Services and future rates of 
UASC arriving into Kent. However, an influx of arrivals, for any reason, 
will impact upon Kent County Council’s ability to meet its corporate 
parenting responsibilities for both UASC and citizen children placed with 
them. Kent County Council’s Service for Unaccompanied Asylum-
Seeking Children (SUASC) is developing its staffing establishment and 
processes to ensure it is as prepared as possible for such an event.   
 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1  The purpose of this reports is to provide members with an overview of the impact of the 
UK’s withdrawal from the European Union on Kent County Council’s corporate parenting 
responsibilities for newly arrived unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (UASC).  

 
2. Background 
 
2.1 With the significant additional increase of UASC in 2015 (a total of 948 and 213 in October 

alone) the National Transfer Scheme (NTS) was established to try and alleviate some of this 
pressure on Kent and other local authorities, whose percentage of UASC per its Child in 
Care population were above 0.07%. A total of 317 children were transferred from Kent to 
other local authorities between July 2016 and March 2018, when Kent ceased its 
participation in the scheme. Reasons for this included other local authorities not 
volunteering to accept responsibility for the children, which risked Kent County Council not 
meeting its corporate parenting responsibilities for these children. Since March 2018 Kent 
County Council has taken responsibility for all UASC presenting within its borders.  

 
2.2 Whilst the number of newly arrived UASC in Kent is much lower than 2015, on the 31st  

October 2019 the total number of arrivals for 2019 had reached 266, surpassing the total for 
2018 (172) and 2017 (214). Experience and data indicate that the total number of new 
arrivals for 2019 will likely exceed 300. One reason for this increase in UASC presenting in 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



 

Kent has been the developing use of clandestine boats by criminal gangs to transport both 
UASC and other migrants across the Channel.   

 
2.3 For Kent County Council the 0.07% threshold equates to 231 UASC and on the 31st  

October 2019 the total number of under 18 UASC in Kent was 404 (including 14 missing 
YP). Kent County Council is engaged in discussion with the Home Office and other local 
authorities to try and identify a working solution to the NTS. However, currently there is no 
immediate or clear resolution to supporting those local authorities, like Kent, who are 
significantly over their 0.07% threshold. 

 
3. Impact of UK’s withdrawal from the European Union 

 
3.1 The following table shows the numbers of UASC arriving in Kent per month and year. 
 

Month 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

January 31 35 17 17 12 

February 17 28 11 8 11 

March 29 35 23 10 29 

April 13 48 14 4 15 

May 42 31 13 6 20 

June 105 32 26 20 26 

July 180 47 14 20 43 

August 128 42 25 18 43 

September 98 42 16 12 26 

October 213 20 19 12 41 

November 51 10 23 29  

December 41 18 13 16  

TOTAL 948 388 214 172 266* 

 
3.2 The table above shows a marked increase of UASC arriving into Kent in March 2019 when 

the original deadline for the UK’s withdrawal from the European Union was due. Although 
an increase in arrivals from February to March might be expected as weather conditions 
and opportunities to cross the Channel improve, the number of arrivals almost tripled in 
March 2019. This indicates that the impending deadline for UK’s withdrawal from the 
European Union may have had some impact on the rate of UASC arriving in Kent.  
 

3.3 The table also shows a sustained increase of UASC arriving into Kent over the summer with 
41 UASC arriving in October 2019 when the UK again prepared for a deadline to withdraw 
from the European Union. Although an increase in arrivals in October might be expected as 
UASC seek to cross the Channel before weather and opportunities deteriorate, 21 UASC 
arrived in the 3 days preceding the European Union agreeing to an extension a deadline 
extension.  

 
3.4 The potential relationship between the deadlines for the UK’s withdrawal from the European 

Union and an increase in UASC arriving in Kent, indicates that there may be a further 
increase in the days/weeks preceding the UK’s eventual withdrawal from the European 
Union. However there is also a wider context of global political events steering migration 
(Turkey’s attack on Kurdish populations in Northern Syria, the closure of migrant camps in 
Northern France etc), weather conditions and young people’s own accounts for their 

Page 66



 

journeys to the UK, which collectively make the rate of UASC arrivals into Kent 
unpredictable and not necessarily connected to the UK’s membership to the European 
Union. 

 
3.5 The fluctuations in newly arrived UASC requires Kent County Council’s Service for 

Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (SUASC) to be in a state of constant readiness. 
If a large number of UASC arrive within a short space of time it is very challenging for the 
Service to provide a robust and timely response to their needs and meet its corporate 
parenting responsibilities.  

 
3.6 This impact is compounded by Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children having a broad 

range of needs, which can include language, cultural and religious needs, physical injuries 
and illness, emotional distress and mental illness. This cohort of young people can have 
very negative experiences of authority and expectations upon themselves and the services 
provided to them. There is a risk of young people being trafficked and quickly going missing 
once they arrive in Kent. If young people are located after going missing, they are often in 
other parts of the UK, e.g. Birmingham or Bristol, and need to be returned to Kent at short 
notice. An influx of new arrivals, for any reason, combined with this complexity of need will 
impact upon Kent County Council’s capacity to meet its corporate parenting responsibilities.   

 
3.7 Additionally, the lack of documentary evidence for newly arrived UASC’s claimed age and a 

disparity between that claimed age and their presentation can lead to concerns that young 
people are significantly older than their claimed age. In such cases a Merton case law 
compliant age assessment is required, which are lengthy and can be litigious. Changes to 
Home Office policy in response to legal judgements (BF (Eritrea) v Secretary of State for the 
Home Department 2019) has led to an increase in Home Office referrals to SUASC for age 
assessments. Age assessments need to be completed at pace in order to manage the risks 
posed to other children in placements by a potential adult, about whom very little is known. 
An influx of new arrivals, for any reason, will impact upon SUASC’s capacity to achieve this 
and thus meet corporate parenting responsibilities for all children in these placements.  

 
4. Conclusion 

 
4.1 Since June 2019 SUASC has been developing its staffing establishment and processes in 

preparation for both the UK’s withdrawal from the European Union and influxes of new 
arrivals generally. This includes on-going discussions with the Home Office and other local 
authorities to identify a working solution to a fair distribution of responsibility for UASC 
arriving in the UK.   

 

Recommendations 
 
The members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the uncertainty that exists 
regarding the eventual impact of the UK’s withdrawal from the European Union on all Services 
and future rates of UASC arriving into Kent. However an influx of arrivals, for any reason, will 
impact upon Kent County Council’s ability to meet its corporate parenting responsibilities for 
both UASC and citizen children placed with them.   
 
Kent County Council’s Service for Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (SUASC) is 
developing its staffing establishment and processes to ensure it is as prepared as possible for 
such an event.   

Page 67



 

 
 

 
5. Background Documents: None 

 
6. Contact details 
 
Lead Officer 
Penny Ademuyiwa 
Assistant Director – Front Door 
03000410060 
Penny.Ademuyiwa@kent.gov.uk 
 

Lead Director 
Sarah Hammond 
Director of Integrated Children’s Services East 
(Social Work Lead) 
03000 411 488 
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk  

 

Page 68

mailto:Penny.Ademuyiwa@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk

	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 17 September 2019
	SEPT 2019 OCYPC update

	6 Challenge Card update
	7 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
	8 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care
	Item 8 Appx - Corporate Parenting Scorecard - October 2019

	9 The Corporate Parenting Annual Report 2019
	Item 9 Appx - Corporate parenting annual report 2019

	10 UASC and impact of leaving the European Union

